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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA


Case No.:


COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED


Ed VALLEJO, et al., 
Plaintiffs,
vs.

LOCKE LORD LLP, Regina J. McClendon Meagan S. Tom, Nathan F. Smith,
Christina J. O, Malcolm Cisneros, Xiyi (Jackie) Fu

 Defendants	





Parties
1. Plaintiff EDUARDO ENRIQUE VALLEJO is and all relevant times mentioned herein was an individual, residing in the State of California, City of Burbank.
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2. Defendants Locke Lord LLP, is a law firm with offices in various places around the country including San Francisco, California and claiming to have a “Global Reach”.
Defendant Locke Lord LLP specializes in representing banks to collect loans including home loans including performing illegal foreclosures and representing banks in bankruptcy proceedings to obtain Relief From Stay to prosecute such foreclosures.
Defendant Locke Lord LLP is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692a(6), and California law and took actions in addition to performing non-judicial foreclosures by participating in Plaintiff’s bankruptcy proceedings.
3. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendant Lock Lord LLP has represented banks in thousands of loan collection cases and performed thousands of illegal acts.
4. Defendant Regina J. McClendon is an attorney working in the San Francisco office of Locke Lord LLP. Defendant Locke Lord LLP is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6), and California law and took actions in addition to performing non-judicial foreclosures by participating in Plaintiff’s bankruptcy proceedings.
5. Defendant Meagan S. Tom is an attorney working in the San Francisco office of Locke Lord LLP. Defendant is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.
§ 1692a(6), and California law and took actions in addition to performing non-judicial foreclosures by participating in Plaintiff’s bankruptcy proceedings.
6. Malcolm & Cisneros is a law corporation with offices in California, Arizona, Nevada,
and Washington, licensed to practice law in 20 states. Defendant Malcolm & Cisneros

specializes in representing banks to collect loans including home loans and including representing banks in bankruptcy proceedings to obtain Relief From Stay to prosecute such foreclosures. Defendant is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.
7. § 1692a(6), and California law and took actions in addition to performing non-judicial foreclosures by participating in Plaintiff’s bankruptcy proceedings.
8. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defendant Malcolm & Cisneros has represented banks in thousands of loan collection cases and performed thousands of illegal acts.
9. Nathan F. Smith is an attorney employed at the law firm of Malcolm & Cisneros

10. Christina J. O is an attorney employed at the law firm of Malcolm & Cisneros.

11. Xiyi (Jackie) Fu is an attorney employed at the law firm of Malcolm & Cisneros.

Non-party Entities Affiliated With Defendants

12. GMAC Mortgage Corporation DBA ditech.com originated the loan which is the subject of this dispute (“the Loan”). It did so illegally and has been the subject of many legal actions, including class actions in connection with its practices in the home loan industry. There was also an action by the Federal Home Loan Bank of Indianapolis arising from the sale of over $2.7 billion in Private Label Mortgage Backed Securities , a type of Residential Mortgage Backed Security, In the Marion Indianapolis Superior Court, Cause Number 49D05 10 10 PL 045071.
13. Green Tree Servicing LLC (“Green Tree”) claimed to have rights to the Loan. Green

Tree has been the subject of numerous legal actions including an action for fraud by the Federal Trade Commission and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau resulting in the payment of a fine of $63 million. The FTC and CFPB alleged Green Tree

committed a slew of unfair and deceptive practices in loan servicing, debt collection, and credit reporting that affected homeowners nationwide.
14. LSF9 Trust claimed an interest in the Loan. LSF9 has also been the subject of numerous legal actions.
15. Caliber Home Loans also claimed to have rights concerning the Loan. It also has been the subject of many legal actions including class actions for doing such things as “forced placed insurance”.
16. U.S. Bank, N.A. is a financial services company and operates as a Bank, known as one of the “Too Big To Fail” and “Too Big To Jail” banks having been the subject of numerous legal actions and well known to violate the law. For example, it was most recently prosecuted criminally and was fined for Corporate Anti-Money Laundering Failures for serving oligarchs, criminals and terrorists. It was fined by the Federal
Reserve for improper foreclosure practices.
17. Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) is a United States government-sponsored enterprise. It became insolvent in connection with the 2008 financial crisis and its executives were prosecuted for crimes.
18. Ocwen Mortgage was a loan servicer specializing in servicing high-risk mortgage loans. It was the subject of numerous legal actions including an action by a number of state attorneys general which it settled for $2.1 billion dollars.
19. Caliber Home Loans, Inc. is an entity engaged in originating and servicing home loans illegally and has been the subject of many legal actions including an action by the New York Attorney General for illegal loan modifications.

20. LSF9 Participation Trust (LSF9) is an entity which was formed by Lone Star Funds, the private-equity firm founded by billionaire John Grayken, which submitted winning bids for $3.9 billion of soured home loans sold this month by the Department of Housing and Urban Development.
21. LSF9 is the subject of many legal actions.



JURISDICTION AND VENUE
22. This court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d),

and supplemental jurisdiction exists of the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

23. Declaratory relief is available pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.

24. 8. Venue in this district is proper The Court has personal jurisdiction over all parties to this lawsuit, and venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 and because Defendants
transact business here and the conduct complained of occurred here.

FACTS

The Loan and Bankruptcy Proceedings

25. Plaintiff is the owner of the home at 508 North California Street, Burbank, Ca.

26. On or about November 10, 2004, Plaintiff and Maria Luisa Vallejo obtained a $315,000 loan (the “Loan”) from GMAC Mortgage Corporation DBA ditech.com and executed a promissory note (“the Promissory Note”).
27. The Loan was secured by a deed of trust (the Trust Deed) against the Property.

28. Plaintiff did not make all the payments on the loan and collections actions were taken by various parties including the processing of a nonjudicial foreclosure.

29. Plaintiff filed bankruptcy proceedings to stop the foreclosure. In re: Eduardo Enrique Vallejo, United States Bankruptcy Court – Central District of California, Case No. 16-bk-16833-SK, and 2:19-bk-21271-SK. (The Bankruptcies).
The Loan Was Securitized And As Such Is A Fraud

30. The Loan was securitized. Securitization violates many federal and state laws. This is commonly known and beyond reasonable dispute and securitization is credited with having been a major cause of the 2008 financial crisis. At the proper time, it will be requested that the court take judicial notice of many of these facts as common
knowledge under Federal Rule of Evidence, Rule 201, and as not being subject to reasonable dispute.
31. Plaintiff is unable to allege all the specific facts showing Defendants’ wrongful conduct because the defendants have, and continue, to conceal evidence and have created and used false and misleading documents.
32.  After an accounting is rendered and/or after the completion of discovery plaintiff will seek leave to amend this complaint to provide all the details.
33. The funds for the Loan did not come from any bank. The funds came from investors.

None of the parties who attempted to collect the subject loan ever had any right to collect it.
Robo-Signing

34. As set forth below, the securitized trust to which the Loan was assigned on the books and records of the securitizing parties was never properly formed because, inter alia, the loans which were purportedly assigned to the trust were never done. To try to
compensate for this, the securitizing parties created and recorded in the public records

false and fraudulent assignments of mortgages including for this Loan. That became commonly known as “robo-signing”.
35. Large amounts of evidence exists that robo-signing was rampant. For example, the New Jersey courts did an investigation citing deposition testimony and other evidence of the widespread practice. See: https://www.njcourts.gov/notices/2010/n101220b.pdf.
Administrative Order 01-2010, New Jersey Courts.
36. Additional action was taken around the country concerning robo-signing. See: United States of America v. Lorraine Brown (Case No. 3:12-cr-198-1-25MLR) in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida, Jacksonville Division; the 01/30/2013 Final Consent Judgment entered in Attorney General of the State
of New Jersey vs. Lender Processing Services, Inc., DocX, LLC, et al.,) the Declaration of Dale M. Sugimoto as President of Sand Canyon Corporation submitted to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Louisiana - New Orleans in Case No.
07-11862(EWM) on 03/19/2009; the Consent Judgment entered on 02/26/2014 in Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, et Onsum Sau, et al. vs. Ocwen Financial Corporation, et al. (Case No. 1:13-cv-02025-RMC) in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia; and the Consent Judgment entered on 05/10/2018 in State of Alabama, et al. vs. PHH Mortgage Corporation (Case No. 1:18-cv-00009-TFH) in the
U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia.

37. On June 20, 2016, an assignment of Trust Deed was recorded in the public records to Fannie Mae from Ditech Financial LLC. Plaintiff is informed and believes Fannie Mae guaranteed the payment of the Loan and from the date of the assignment held the Loan

on it’s books and records pursuant to its usual and customary procedures. There is no

assignment of the Trust Deed from Fannie Mae to any other party in the public records.
38. Plaintiff is informed and believes Fannie Mae guaranteed the Loan. Fannie Mae became insolvent and had to be rescued by the federal government. Fannie Mae’s
executives were convicted of crimes. Fannie Mae continued with its criminal conduct with regard to the Loan.
39. As part of the Helping Families Save Their Homes Act (the “Act”), Congress amended Section 131 of the Truth in Lending Act (15 USC § 1641)(“TILA”) to include a new provision (Section 131(g)) that requires the assignee of a mortgage loan to notify a consumer borrower that his loan has been transferred.
40. Plaintiff was never notified of the assignment to Fannie Mae.

41. Non-party Entities Affiliated With Defendants caused false assignments of the Trust Deed to be recorded in the public records including an assignment to LSF9.
42. Defendants submitted the fraudulent deeds of trust in the Bankruptcies executing pleadings under penalty of perjury.
43. Each of these assignments was fraudulent and robo-signed.

44. Plaintiff is informed and believes Defendants had actual knowledge of this.
45. There is evidence available that as a part of the securitization process promissory notes related to home loans were destroyed in order to avoid confusion with electronic versions that were created in connection with securitization.
46. Plaintiff is informed and believes that the Promissory Note related was destroyed which made it impossible for the Loan to be collected legally.

47. To conceal this a fraudulent and forged promissory note was created by non-party affiliates of Defendants and plaintiff is informed and believes Defendants has actual knowledge of this.
48. Two different versions of a promissory note were used by Defendants to make claims in the Bankruptcies try to collect the Loan. They were submitted in in case number 2:16-bk-16833-SK.
49. One version of the note was provided by a servicer called Ocwen.
50. One version was shown to have an endorsement by GMAC Mortgage dba Ditech.com in 2016. However, GMAC Mortgage, along with many other companies, was dissolved as a part of “RESCAP” in 2012, four years before.
51. Plaintiff submitted a plan to pay his debts in his first bankruptcy including the payment of the Loan. However, no payments were owed on the Loan.
52. In Plaintiff’s second bankruptcy, the Defendants falsely claimed that payments were not owed.
53. The submission of these false and fraudulent promissory notes and assignments of deeds of trust by Defendants was a violation of California Penal Code §115 (recording a false or forged document), California Penal Code §118 (perjury), 18 U.S.C. § 157 (filing a false document in a bankruptcy).
54. An further example of the criminal acts of Defendant Malcolm & Cisneros is that Arturo M. Cisneros (“Cisneros”) applied for and was appointed the bankruptcy trustee in the case of In re Lenny Kyle Dykstra, U.S. Bankruptcy Court, Central District of California, No. 09-18409 to conceal illegal criminal conduct by bank creditors.

55. Cisneros represented the major creditor of the estate J.P. Morgan Chase and other bank creditors in proceedings throughout the United States and concealed this from the bankruptcy court.
56. Dykstra filed a motion to have Cisneros removed and Cisneros resigned before a hearing on the motion.
57. The gravamen of this complaint is fraud. There are many federal statutes that have been violated such as the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and the Real Estate
Settlement Procedures Act.

58. Congress took action as a result of the crisis and as one example passed The Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009.
59. In addition, U.S. President Barack Obama and key advisers introduced a series of regulatory proposals in June 2009. The proposals addressed consumer protection,
executive pay, bank financial and enhanced authority for the Federal Reserve to safely wind-down systemically important institutions, among others.
60. Millions of legal cases have been filed throughout the United States documenting the fraud described herein. Enormous amounts of evidence have been accumulated including depositions, affidavits, documents, and other forms of evidence. Much of it is available online on the internet and in the numerous court filings
61.  ​Numerous government and regulatory actions have been taken and banks and other parties involved in the securitization of the subject loan have been fined billions of dollars.
62. Lenders used to do business by providing the funds for a loan from their own account.
They would provide the money, keep the documents evidencing the loan, and keep it on

their books, and collect it. Often, they had a personal relationship with the borrower. Those days are long gone.
63. Securitization has been described as:

Securitization is the financial practice of pooling various types of contractual debt such as residential mortgages, commercial mortgages, auto loans or credit card debt obligations (or other non-debt assets which generate receivables) and selling their related cash flows to third party investors as securities, which may be described as bonds, pass-through securities, or collateralized debt obligations (CDOs). Investors are repaid from the principal and interest cash flows collected from the underlying debt and redistributed through the capital structure of the new financing. Securities backed by mortgage receivables are called mortgage backed securities(MBS), while those backed by other types of receivables are asset-backed securities (ABS).
64. Securitized debts are “pooled” and they are put into a trust.

65. The financial institutions and federal government set up the securitization system which is so deeply embedded in the economic system it could not be changed without risking a total financial collapse such as occurred in 2008.
66. Legal scholars pointed out that securitization was legally flawed well prior to the 2008 crisis. (See: Yamazaki Kenji, What makes Asset Securitization Inefficient ? (2005); Berkeley Electronic Press, Working paper #603. See: Steven Schwarcz, Enron And The Use And Abuse Of Special Purpose Entities In Corporate Structures, 70 U. Cin. L. Rev. 1309 (2002). See: Carlson D. (1998). The Rotten Foundations of Securitization.
William & Mary Law Review, 39:	. See: Lupica L (2000).
Circumvention Of The Bankruptcy Process: The Statutory Institutionalization Of

Securitization. Connecticut Law Review, 33: 199-210. See: Thomas Plank, 2004, The Security of Securitization And The Future Of Security, 25 Cardozo L. Rev. 1655 (2004).
67. Securitization is credited with causing the financial crisis of 2008.

68. Because of the crisis securitization became the subject of millions of published articles, books, television shows, movies, and more.
69. Securitization is highly complex. However, the law that applies to the subject debt is basic, simple, clear, and usually taught in law school. The law is the same throughout the United States because for example the Uniform Commercial Code applies and the UCC has been adopted in most all the states.
70. A promissory note is not created originally as a registered security. It is simply the commonly used evidence of a debt. In securitization, the promissory note and any mortgage partnered with the note are in essence converted into a registered security.
71. Some experts opine this fact alone renders the transaction illegal. In the securitization process the nature of the contractual relationships has changed as have the parties involved. No longer is it simply a matter of a lender and borrower.
72. Securitization involves a series of transactions taken in a certain specific order and in certain steps. This is required because of the law that applies to registered securities. In this case a mortgage backed security (“MBS”) was supposedly created into which the Loan was allocated in the records of the securtizers.
73. In securitization, the right to receive the cash flow from a debt is purportedly transferred to investors, often institutional investors as mentioned above.

74. Many of the documents involved in securitization of debts are public record filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission at its “Edgar” website. Plaintiff has obtained a report identifying some of the documents involved in the securitization of the Loan.
75. In securitizing the Loan, certain steps had to be taken in a certain order and the promissory note and mortgage had to be assigned to various entities step by step to create a complete chain of title.
76. No such recordings occurred.
77. The promissory note was never assigned at all. Plaintiff is informed and believes the promissory note was stored or destroyed at the beginning of the securitization process. Evidence exists that the note was destroyed to avoid confusion when it was converted into electronic form.
78. This means there was a separation of the promissory note from the mortgage.
79. This renders the loan unenforceable as declared by the United States Supreme Court in 1872. The Court stated:
The note and mortgage are inseparable; the former as essential, the latter as

an incident. An assignment of the note carries the mortgage with it, while assignment of the latter alone is a nullity... The mortgage can have no separate existence. When the
note is paid the mortgage expires. It cannot survive for a moment the debt which the

note represents. This dependent and incidental relation is the controlling consideration
. . . .‖
Carpenter v. Longan, 16 Wall 271,83 U.S. 271, 274, 21 L.Ed. 313 (1872)

80. Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 5.4. UCC § 9-203(g) codifies this rule for both sales of a mortgage note and a security interest in a mortgage note to secure an obligation.
81. However, since the loan has been turned into a security, Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code should also apply.
82. Article 8 provides: § 8-103. RULES FOR DETERMINING WHETHER CERTAIN OBLIGATIONS AND INTERESTS ARE SECURITIES OR FINANCIAL ASSETS.
(a) A share or similar equity interest issued by a corporation, business trust, joint stock company, or similar entity is a security.
83. Other provisions of Article 8 define when and how a person obtains an interest in a security. (See: § 8-104. ACQUISITION OF SECURITY OR FINANCIAL ASSET OR INTEREST THEREIN.)
84. The investors were not entitled to receive payments on the loan because, inter alia, the promissory note and mortgage were never assigned properly to the investors.
85. The primary document that controls the rights and obligations of the securitized trust was a Pooling and Service Agreement (“PSA”).
86. Under the PSA certain assignments had to be completed by the “Cut off Date and Closing Date”. No such assignments were done by those dates.
87. As set forth above, the acts of defendants constituted crimes. Misprision of felony is an offense under United States federal law under 18 U.S.C. §4 which states:
Whoever, having knowledge of the actual commission of a felony cognizable by a
court of the United States, conceals and does not as soon as possible make known the same to some judge or other person in civil or military authority under the

United States, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than three years, or both.
88. Plaintiff intends this complaint to be his report of crimes.

89. One of the reasons for the strict requirements concerning the order and timing of transfers in securitization is because a Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduit (REMIC) is supposed to be formed.
90. To obtain REMIC classification, a trust must satisfy several requirements.There is a

requirement that within three months after the trust’s startup date all of its assets must be transferred and be qualified mortgages. See IRC § 860D(a)(4).
91. REMICs were first authorized by the enactment of the Tax Reform Act of 1986 and allows special tax treatment to be claimed by investors. Allocated REMIC income or loss is not classified as income or loss from a passive activity, which enables residual interest owners to offset allocated REMIC losses against income from salaries and
other active sources of income—a significant income tax advantage. Another advantage is they are not “double taxed”. While individual investors pay taxes on income they
receive from REMICs, the securities themselves are exempt from business income tax.

92. In 2011, the Internal Revenue Service launched a review of the tax-exempt status of REMICS.
93. The IRS concluded that if the REMIC investments failed to comply with strict requirements in the federal tax code, the REMIC would have to pay a 100 percent tax on the income from those investments. Penalties would also have to be paid.
94. A suit filed by the New York Attorney General details in its allegations how loan
originators and REMIC sponsors colluded to populate REMICs with faulty mortgages.

See Complaint, New York v. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, NO. 451556/2012 (County of New York, Oct. 10, 2012). A suit filed on behalf of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae also also alleges the corrupt practices of loan originators that have implications for REMICs’ tax-advantaged status. See: Complaint, Federal Housing Finance Agency v. JPMorgan Chase & Co., No. 11 Civ. 6188 (DLC) (S.D.N.Y. June 13, 2012).
95.  State and federal prosecutors also brought actions for related fraud. See Complaint, New York v. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, NO. 451556/2012 (County of New York, Oct. 10, 2012). 10 See Complaint, Federal Housing Finance Agency v. JPMorgan
Chase & Co., No. 11 Civ. 6188 (DLC) (S.D.N.Y. June 13, 2012). 11 See, e.g.,

Consolidated Complaint at 20–22, HSH Nordbank AG v. Barclays Bank PLC, No. 652678/2011 (County of New York Apr. 2, 2012) (claiming REMIC promoters misrepresented information about the pooled mortgages and committed fraud); The Western and Southern Life Insurance Company v. Residential Funding Company, No. A1105042 (Hamilton County Ohio June 6, 2012) (denying motions to dismiss claims against 6 8/31/2012 misrepresentation against the sponsors.
96. The legal action by the Federal Housing Finance Agency mentioned above demonstrates that Freddie Mae, a participant in the Loan has been for many years, and is fully aware of the criminal conduct of the banks. Yet, it has participated in the
wrongful conduct in the case of the Loan. It has committed crimes and is a co-conspirator with the defendants.
97. It is also guilty of the crime of misprision of a felony under the federal statute for not
reporting the crimes related to the attempts to collect this Loan and participating in the purchase and sale of the loan.

98. In this case, the REMIC into which the Loan which was purportedly put, did not follow the rules and the REMIC failed.
99. The defendants are co-conspirators in violating 26 U.S. Code § 7434, tax fraud.

100. No valid registered securities were issued in conformance with the requirements of applicable securities law for registered securities. Any such registered securities issued to investors regarding the subject loan were and are void.
101. The parties to the securitization committed securities fraud within the meaning of 18 U.S. Code § 1348 and defendants herein are co-conspirators.
102. Plaintiff is informed and believes that large amounts of taxes and penalties are owing as a result of the failure of the proper formation of the REMIC.
103. Because this was a Fannie Mae guaranteed the Loan, there were certain procedures which were to govern the servicing of the loan set forth in the Fannie Mae
SINGLE-FAMILY SELLER/SERVICER GUIDE.

104. Those rules for servicing the loan were not followed in the attempts made to collect the Loan.
105. It is common knowledge that the banks routinely ignore those servicing rules, including making good faith efforts to do loan modifications because it is more
profitable for them to foreclose.

106. The investors may have filed securities fraud class actions which were common in cases such as this. The legal complaints filed in the investor security fraud class actions can run hundreds of pages. They set forth in great detail the story of the wrongful acts and omissions of the banks and related parties such as those involved in the subject
loan. For example, see the 287 page complaint in the case filed in the Plaintiff

incorporates by reference as though set forth in full the 146 page Amended Consolidated Class Action Complaint filed in the United States District Court for The Central District of California in, Main State Retirement System v. Countrywide
Financial Corporation case number 2:10-CV-00302 MRP (MAN). Countrywide was one of the biggest issuers of mortgage backed securities and committed numerous violations of law as set forth in the complaint and defendant Bank of America purchased Countrywide and continued with the illegal activities. For example, the
complaint details how loans were made to people who should not have qualified if proper underwriting standards were applied. Giving loans to people who should not
have qualified also violates the rights of borrowers. Borrowers were lied to in order to
get them to take out a loan. As another example, Plaintiff also incorporates by reference as though set forth in full the 81 page Consolidated Third Amended Complaint in the
case of New Jersey Carpenters Health Fund v. Residential Capital LLC, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, case number 08-CV-8781 (HB).
107. Many of the investor filed class action lawsuits for securities fraud and were settled and investors made recoveries. Some cases went to trial and the investors prevailed. Plaintiff is informed and believes that compensation purportedly for the Loan may have been made that way.
108. The attorneys representing the investors in the securities fraud class actions knew or should have known that their investor clients had no right to claim benefits arising out of the purported transfer of the loans in the MBS, including the Loan, and that the

investors tax treatment as set forth in tax returns filed by them on the investment was incorrect.
109. Such attorneys did not tell their clients or the courts or anyone else that the securitization failed and such securities were void as a matter of law. The class action attorneys should have instead made claims that the securitization failed and the investors lost the benefit they were supposed to receive on the investment and that such investors lost the favorable tax treatment.
110. The class action attorneys made representations in connection with such securities class actions that the investors were entitled to benefit from the assignment of the loans including the subject loan when they knew or should have known that was false. If
there was a class action filed in connection with the subject loan plaintiff will add as party defendants in this case the class action attorneys representing the investors in such class action.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Federal Civil RICO, 18 U.S.C. 3 1962(c))

111. Plaintiff incorporates by reference as though set forth in full the paragraphs of the complaint set forth above.
112. Defendants violated RICO and Plaintiff was injured as a result.

113. Each Defendant pursued loan collection by filing false and fraudulent documents in bankruptcy proceedings in violation of state and federal criminal law as alleged above.
114. Each Defendant violated 18 U.S.C. 3 1962(c) by the acts described in the prior
paragraphs, and as further described below

115. Each Defendant is a "person" capable of holding legal or beneficial interest in property within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961.
116. The Enterprise. Defendants together with the Non-party Entities alleged above, form an association-in-fact for the common and continuing purpose described
herein and constitute an enterprise within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 3 1961(4) engaged in the conduct of their affairs through a continuing pattern of racketeering activity. The members of the enterprise functioned as a continuing unit with an ascertainable
structure separate and distinct from that of the conduct of the pattern of racketeering activity. There may also be other members of the enterprise who are unknown at this time. Each enterprise has engaged in, and their activities have affected, foreign commerce.
117. Pattern of Racketeering Activity. Defendants, each of whom are persons associated with, or employed by, the enterprise, did knowingly, willfully and unlawfully conduct or participate, directly or indirectly. in the affairs of the enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 6 I96 1 (1 ), 1961 (3, and l962(c).
The racketeering activity was made possible Defendants' regular and repeated use of
the facilities and services of the enterprise. Defendants had the specific intent to engage in the substantive RICO violation alleged herein.
118. Predicate acts of racketeering activity are acts which are indictable under provisions of the U.S. Code enumerated in 18 U.S.C. §1961(I)(B), as more specifically alleged below. Defendants each committed at least two such acts or else aided and abetted such acts.

119. The acts of racketeering were not isolated, but rather the acts of Defendants were related in that they had the same or similar purpose and result, participants, victims and method of commission. Further, the acts of racketeering by Defendants have been continuous. There was repeated conduct during a period of time beginning in approximately 2008 and continuing to the present, and there is a continued threat of repetition of such conduct.

120. The association-in-fact enterprise and the alternative enterprises, as alleged herein, were not limited to the predicate acts and extended beyond the racketeering activity.

121. Plaintiff specifically alleges that Defendants participated in the operation and management of the association-in-fact enterprise and the alternative enterprises by overseeing and coordinating the commission of multiple acts of racketeering as described below.

122. Predicate Act: Use of Mails and Wires to Defraud Plaintiff 1341 and 1343 .

Defendants committed acts constituting indictable offenses under 18 U.S.C. 1341 and 1343 in that they devised or intended to devise a scheme or artifice to defraud Plaintiff or to obtain money from Plaintiff by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises. For the purpose of executing their scheme or artifice, Defendants caused delivery of various documents and things by the US. mails or by private or commercial interstate carriers, or received there from. Defendants also
transmitted or caused to be transmitted by means of wire communications in interstate commerce various writings, signs and signals. The acts of Defendants set forth above were done with knowledge that the use of the mails or wires would follow in the
ordinary course of business. or that such use could have been foreseen, even if not

actually intended. These acts were done intentionally and knowingly with the specific intent to advance Defendants' scheme or artifice.
123. Defendants carried out their scheme in different states and could not have

done so unless they used the U.S. mails or private or commercial interstate carriers or interstate wires.
In furtherance of their scheme alleged herein, Defendants communicated among themselves and with Plaintiff in furtherance of the scheme to defraud Plaintiff. These communications were typically transmitted by wire (i.e., electronically) and/or through the United States mails or private or commercial carriers.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Civil Conspiracy to Defraud)`

124. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint as fully set forth herein.
125. Defendants, and each of them, combined and agreed with non-party entities to defraud Plaintiff by causing him to make payments on the Loan that were not owed and by illegally attempting to seal his home.





THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act)

Attorneys whose actions were limited to performing nonjudicial foreclosures were found to be exempt under the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C.
§1692, et seq. (hereinafter “FDCPA”) in Obduskey v. McCarthy & Holthus LLP, No. 17–1307 (2019).

However, Defendants engaged in other acts including appearing in Plaintiff’s bankruptcy and committing fraud to collect a debt as alleged above.
Defendant’s conduct violated the FDCPA in multiple ways, including but not limited to:
126. Engaging in conduct the natural consequences of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse Plaintiff (15 U.S.C. § 1692d);
127. Using false representations and deceptive practices in connection with collection of an alleged debt from Plaintiff (15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10)); and
128. Using unfair or unconscionable means against Plaintiff in connection with an attempt to collect a debt (15 U.S.C. § 1692f).
129. As a result of the above violations of the FDCPA, Plaintiff suffered and continues to suffer injury to Plaintiff’s feelings, personal humiliation, embarrassment, mental anguish and emotional distress, and Defendant is liable to Plaintiff for Plaintiff’s actual damages, statutory damage.




FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, Cal.

Civ. Code §1788, et seq)

Defendants are "debt collectors" within the meaning of California Civil Code § 1788.2(c).

130. Plaintiff is a debtor within the meaning of California Civil Code § 1788.2(h), and in doing the acts alleged, Defendants were attempting to collect an alleged consumer debt.
131. Defendants were engaged in the attempted collection of consumer

debts, and are legally bound to follow the prescriptions of the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("RFDCPA"), California Civil Code § 1788, et seq.
Defendants violated the RFDCPA, California Civil Code § 1788.17,
by making false or misleading representations in their unfair attempts to collect a debt from Plaintiff.

Defendants' violations of the RFDCPA were intentional and/or malicious.

As a result of Defendants' violations of the RFDCPA, Plaintiff was harmed and are entitled to damages under California Civil Code §1788.30.







FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violation of Bus. & Prof. Code Section 17500 et seq.) 
131.  Plaintiff incorporates the above allegations as if set forth herein.
132. Defendants violated Business and Professions Code Section 17500 by
making or causing untrue or misleading statements with the intent to unlawfully collect the Loan.
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violation of Bus. & Prof. Code Section 17200 et seq.)
133.  Defendants' conduct constituted unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business acts or practices under Business and Professions Code Section 17200 et seq.

Defendants' practices were unlawful in that they violated:

(a) state and federal civil and criminal law including RICO as set forth above;
(b) 15 U.S.C. Section 1692 et seq. (Fair Debt Collection Practices Act);
(c) California Civil Code Section 1788 et seq. (Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act)
















PRAYER FOR RELIEF


Wherefore, Plaintiff prays for:
An order awarding Plaintiffs and the Class actual, consequential, and statutory damages to be determined at trial;
An order awarding exemplary damages in an amount to deter and punish;
An injunction prohibiting Defendants from continuing to engage in unfair and unlawful business practices and illegally collecting debts; An order awarding restitution and/or disgorgement and other equitable Pre- and post-judgment interest;
Attorneys' fees and costs of suit; and

Such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.



DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all matters for which a jury trial is guaranteed.






DATED:





Ed Vallejo



VERIFICATION

I, Ed Vallejo am the plaintiff in the above captioned action. I have personal knowledge of the 
facts contained herein some of which I obtained by reviewing an audit report and documents 
referred to therein. 
I declare under penalty of perjury the facts alleged are true and correct except as to those 
matters alleged on information and belief and as to those facts, I believe them to be true.



Dated:






Ed Vallejo
